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Inquiry into Migration Zone Excision
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30 July 2002

Mr Peter Hallahan

Secretary

Senate Legal and Constitutional References Committee

Parliament House

CANBERRA  ACT  2600

By Email:  legcon.sen@aph.gov.au
Dear Sir

Re:
Inquiry into Migration Zone Excision

Thank you for your letter dated 4 July 2002 inviting the Human Rights Council of Australia to make a submission to the Reference Committee’s inquiry into the excision of certain islands from Australia’s Migration Zone.

The Council notes that the inquiry was precipitated by the Migration Legislation Amendment (Further Border Protection Measures) Bill 2002 (“the Bill”) and that the Bill was referred to the Committee for inquiry on 25 June 2002.

The Council offers the following submissions:

1.
If enacted, the Bill will invalidate a protection visa application made by a person after entry to Australia at an island which is an excised place.  The effect will be that such persons will be denied all the rights under the Migration Act 1958 of domestic administrative processing and due process, that is, review by the Refugee Review Tribunal and the courts. It also means that the unauthorised arrivals can be removed, without any judicial or other independent review, from Australian territory and placed elsewhere.  Article 31(1) of the 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees (“the Convention”), as amended by the 1967 Protocol Relating to the Status of Refugees (“the Protocol”), provides that “[t]he Contracting States shall not impose penalties, on account of their illegal entry or presence, on refugees who, coming directly from a territory where their life or freedom was threatened in the sense of Article 1, enter or are present in their territory without authorisation, provided they present themselves without delay to the authorities and show good case for their illegal entry or presence”.  Australia acceded to the Convention on 22 January 1954 and to the 1967 Protocol on 13 December 1973.  Denial to persons in excised places but not others who “enter or are present in [Australian] territory without authorisation”, of the rights associated with making a valid protection visa application, is a disadvantage which amounts to the imposition of a penalty in breach of Article 31(1) of the Convention.  Thus, for example, whereas a person who arrives by aircraft at a capital city such as Sydney will be entitled to make a valid visa application, a person with relatively less means who arrives by boat at an excised island will be denied the opportunity to make a valid visa application, even though both arrive on Australian territory and in a country which is a State Party to the Convention.

2.
Denial of rights associated with the making of a valid visa application also constitutes discrimination based on “status” and perhaps also “race”.  This constitutes a breach of the right under Article 26 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) to equality before the law and equal protection before the law, free from discrimination.  The making of such a law would offend against Australia’s obligation as a State Party under Article 2 of the ICCPR “to respect and ensure to all individuals within its territory and subject to its jurisdiction the rights recognised in the present Covenant, without distinction of any kind, such as race, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status” (emphasis added).

3.
The discriminatory treatment of some arrivals but not others arguably also offends against Article 7 of the Convention which relevantly provides that “[e]xcept where this Convention contains more favourable provisions, a Contracting State shall accord to refugees the same treatment as is accorded to aliens generally”.  The denial of some persons but not others access to the courts, further infringes the Convention, specifically Article 16 which provides that “[a] refugee shall have free access to the courts of law on the territory of all Contracting States”.

4.
Even if, contrary to the above submissions, the further excision of territory within Australian sovereignty from the Migration Zone is not in direct breach of the Convention, it certainly offends against the spirit of the Convention, as indicated by the Final Act of the Conference of Plenipotentiaries and the Preamble to the Convention.  Australia was one of 26 States represented at the Conference of Plenipotentiaries which preceded ratification of the Convention.  Among other things, the Act recommended “that Governments continue to receive refugees in their territories and that they act in concert in a true spirit of international cooperation in order that these refugees may find asylum and the possibility of resettlement” (emphasis added).  The Preamble to the Convention echoes these sentiments by giving specific recognition to the fact that international cooperation is vital to a satisfactory solution to the refugee problem.  The islands being excised are territories within Australian sovereignty.  Those who arrive at the excised places will effectively find themselves in a no man’s land.  This represents an abrogation of the spirit of Australia’s responsibilities under the Convention and Protocol.  It is highly doubtful whether this responsibility can be assumed by another State Party to the Convention because the excised places are within Australian borders.  Thus, it would seem inevitable that persons genuinely seeking refugee status, will be disadvantaged.  This can hardly be said to be in keeping with the need for international cooperation.  In fact, the approach is anything but cooperative.  Contrary to the assertion by the Minister for Immigration in the Second Reading Speech on the Bill that the present approach by the Government involves a “very liberal interpretation of the Refugees Convention”, in the Council’s submission, the Bill is a clear demonstration that the Government would prefer to adopt a more restrictive approach to the Convention.

5.
The Council recognises the importance of border protection, especially in an environment where terrorism may continue to pose a threat to national security.  It also acknowledges the need for deterrents to the activities of those engaged in people smuggling.  In the Council’s submission, however, the Bill is unlikely to achieve these objectives.  In the unlikely event that the Bill does help to achieve these goals, there is a very real risk that any such gains may be made at too high a price, in effect, the displacement of persons who would otherwise be entitled to the protection that Australia is obliged to afford under the Convention.

6.
The Council accepts that the Bill will not affect the property or other rights of indigenous or other communities resident on islands to be excised from the Migration Zone by the Bill.  A question nevertheless arises as to what, if any, obligations will be incurred by these communities if and when refugees arrive at these places — in no man’s land.  With the passage of the Bill, the Government may achieve its objective of keeping these refugees at bay from the visa application system.  Steps must, however, still be taken to properly and humanely deal with these persons ‘on the ground’.  How will this be achieved?  Have the relevant communities been consulted or at the very least informed of what they might expect and what their respective obligations are?  The Council is not in a position to answer these questions.  Appropriately, it is a matter for consultation between the communities concerned and the Government.  The time frame of one month for the Senate Committee to inquire and report back on the Bill is quite inadequate for the impact of the Bill on the Australian community and refugees to be properly considered.

Yours faithfully

Professor Meaghan Morris
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